1960

The State of Utah v. Leo Barrett Stewart, Jr. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF FACT

The above entitled case came on for hearing on the 7th day of June, 1960, before the Honorable A. H. Ellett, Judge of the Third Judicial District Court, Salt Lake County, State of Utah. Defendant was charged in the information of the crime of negligent homicide in violation of Title 41, Chapter 6, Section 43.10, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as enacted by the laws of Utah in 1955, and as amended by the laws of Utah in 1957, as follows, to wit: "That the said Leo Barrett Stewart, Jr. on or about the 9th day of March, 1959, in the County of Salt

Lake, State of Utah, being then and there a person operating a vehicle, to-wit, a 1956 GMC pickup truck, did then and there unlawfully and negligently drive said vehicle with reckless disregard for the safety of others, and did then and there inflict injury by the driving of said vehicle upon a person, to-wit, Paul Weddington, thereby proximately causing his death, which death ensued within one year of said injury.” (R. 8) The jury found defendant guilty as charged on June 7, 1960, and notice of appeal was filed on June 24, 1960.

Officer Norris K. Johnson of the Salt Lake City Police Department was called and testified for the State as follows: That he was one of the investigating officers; that on the 9th day of March, 1959, he was called to the scene of an accident at 21st South and 9th East Street, Salt Lake City, Utah; that he arrived at the scene of the accident at approximately 7:57 A.M. On his arrival he found a pickup truck and a passenger car had collided; that they were in approximately the position as shown on Exhibit P-1 and Exhibit P-7. The deceased, Paul Weddington, was the driver of the Plymouth automobile; defendant, Leo Barrett Stewart, Jr., was the driver of the truck. At the time of the accident Mr. Weddington was alone in the passenger car and defendant Stewart was the sole occupant of the pickup truck. The measurements as set forth on said

two Exhibits were made by Officer Norris K. Johnson.

Officer Johnson testified that he could find no skid marks from either vehicle (R. 36). Officer Johnson also identified the Exhibits P-2, 3, 4, 5 and 6, showing the vehicles involved in the accident, and also P-3 showing the intersection at 9th East and 21st South Street looking to the west, and Exhibit P-2, the same intersection, looking to the south. The photographs, Officers Johnson admitted, were taken four days after the accident and were introduced merely to show the general nature of the intersection itself (R. 38). Officer Johnson testified that the single semaphore at said intersection was working at the time he arrived at the scene of the accident. Officer Johnson testified that he found a Mr. Taylor, a witness to the accident; that in the presence of Officer Johnson and Mr. Taylor and defendant Stewart, Mr. Taylor stated that Mr. Stewart had run the red light; further, Officer Johnson testified that Mr. Stewart did not reply or say anything to said remark made by Mr. Taylor (R. 39). Officer Johnson also read the statement that Mr. Stewart gave to him at the time of the accident. "Mr. Stewart states, I was going west on 21st South. The last time I had looked at the light it was green; that was about 150 feet approximately before the intersection. I never even saw the other car

until I was in the intersection and then it was too late. I was in the middle lane at the time." (R. 40). He further stated that defendant Stewart told him that defendant Stewart was traveling at approximately 30 m.p.h. at the time of the accident (R. 40). That the distance of danger when Stewart realized there was going to be an accident was approximately 10 feet (R. 40). The light sequence for the semaphore for the lights facing to the east on 21st South was determined by Officer Johnson to be as follows: a five-second yellow light thirty-second red light and a thirty-five second green light (R. 41). Officer Johnson also testified that at the time of the accident, approximately 7:45 A.M., the sun was just above the mountains and shining westerly down 21st South (R. 41-42). Officer Johnson also testified that he had made investigation of other accidents at this intersection and that in his report in the investigation of this particular accident of Mr. Stewart's, he listed as one of the possible factors in this accident the sun obscuring the light in the semaphore (R. 42).

"Q. Isn't it a fact that in your report in your investigation of this accident you listed as one of the possible factors in this accident the sun obscuring the light semaphore?

"A. I stated that the sun was shining directly on the semaphore, it possibly might

have had an effect on the vision of the driver.”
(R. 42).

On cross-examination (R. 43) Officer Johnson was asked the following question:

“Q. Did you ever have any other conversations with Mr. Stewart when Mr. Taylor was present other than the one you just told us about?

“A. Not that I can remember.

“Q. Do you remember Mr. Stewart in that conversation and in the presence of Mr. Taylor making a statement to this effect: ‘That man ran the red light directly in front of me, or something to that effect?’

Objection to the question was made by the State and the court refused to allow the Officer to answer the question (R. 43-44). Further at R. 44 counsel for defendant on cross-examination, asked Officer Johnson:

“Q. One other question, Officer Johnson, this intersection — or Officer Johnson — excuse me — this intersection at 9th East and 21st South is one of the most dangerous intersections in the city, is it not?”

The court refused to allow Officer Johnson to answer that question (R. 44). Officer Johnson did testify that he had attended or investigated several accidents at this particular intersection (R. 44-45). Further he testified that there had been many accidents at this particular intersection (R. 45).

With reference to the position of the victim, Paul Weddington, as shown on Exhibits P-7 and P-1, there was uncertainty as to whether or not the position of the victim as shown on said exhibits was the actual position where the victim was after the accident. Police Officer Colbert of the Salt Lake City Police Department testified that it was customary prior to removing a victim, such as Mr. Weddington, to make a chalk mark around the body indicating the location where he was at the time. However, in this particular case that was not done.

Mr. Earl B. Taylor was called to testify on behalf of the State. Mr. Taylor testified (R. 52, 53): That on the morning of March 9, 1959, at approximately 7:45 A.M. he was traveling south on 9th East to his place of employment; that as he approached the intersection of 9th East and 21st South the light changed red before he reached it; that there was another car stopped ahead of him (R. 53). The car in front of him was the Weddington Plymouth automobile. He stated that they waited for a few moments and the light changed green and that immediately on the change of the light to green the Plymouth automobile in front of him started through the intersection (R. 54). Mr. Taylor testified that he had pulled forward a little ahead of where he had stopped and glanced to the east and saw this truck coming through the intersection.

That he stepped on his brakes and stopped his automobile in the cross-walk. That the truck came in through the intersection and struck the Plymouth automobile towards the middle section of the car (R. 54). At the time Mr. Taylor first saw the pick-up truck it was approximately two car lengths back of the intersection; that there were two cars in the left-turn lane going south or going west on 21st South (R. 54). Further, that the driver of the pick-up truck did not put on his brakes until just as he hit the Plymouth automobile (R. 55). Mr. Taylor testified that Mr. Stewart after the accident walked up towards him and stated: "I have often heard of these kind of things, but this is the first time I have been in one. That man ran right out in front of me." Mr. Taylor testified that he (Mr. Taylor) replied, "You were wrong, because you came through that red light." The defendant Stewart made no remark to that.

On cross-examination Mr. Taylor stated that the Weddington Plymouth car came to a complete stop at the intersection of 9th East and 21st South and that just the instant the light turned to green the Weddington Plymouth automobile started up fairly quick (R. 56). Mr. Taylor on cross-examination further testified that after his car had moved forward just a matter of a few feet he had no difficulty in seeing the pickup truck coming from the

left; that it didn't look like the pickup truck could make a good stop if he did stop (R. 57) and for that reason Mr. Taylor stopped his automobile. Mr. Taylor further testified that the light that would be facing the traffic coming from the east could not be seen directly by him but that he could see when the yellow light came on (R. 59).

It was stipulated and agreed in open court between the State and counsel for Defendant without the necessity of having the attending physician testify, that Paul Edward Weddington, the victim, died as a result of the accident; that the date of his death was March 12, 1959.

Joanne Monroe testified for the State as follows: That on the morning of March 9, 1959, at approximately 7:45 A.M. she was on her way to work at the Franklin School; she was proceeding west on 21st South (R. 63) that she approached the intersection of 21st South and 9th East; that she proceeded to the righthand lane behind another car preparatory to making a right hand turn from 21st South onto 9th East going north (R. 63). She testified that the car in front of her and she had come to a complete stop for the red light when she noticed another car coming down the lane to her left that wasn't stopping for the red light (R. 63). She testified that she had been stopped for approximately 3 or 4 seconds; that the other car approaching on

her left did not seem to be slowing down to stop for the red light (R. 63). That the car on her left, the pickup truck, proceeded into the intersection and hit the Weddington Plymouth automobile; that the Plymouth automobile was struck midsection by the pickup truck (R. 64). Mrs. Monroe testified that she had been driving for approximately 9 years and she estimated the speed of the pickup truck as 40 m.p.h. (R. 64) and that she did not notice any slowing down or change of speed as the pickup truck approached the intersection (R. 64). She further testified: "I didn't notice that I had any difficulty in seeing the light" (R. 64).

On cross-examination she stated:

"Q. Mrs. Monroe, were you the first car to stop at this intersection, or were you the second.

"A. There was a car in front of me. I was the second one.

"Q. I see, so whether or not you noticed the light you would have stopped anyway because of the car in front of you, wouldn't you?

"A. I am sure that's true, yes.

"Q. Do you think you were particularly paying attention to the semaphore at that time.

"A. I am quite certain I noticed it or I wouldn't have thought he is going to run the red light, which was my first thought.

Mrs. Monroe on cross-examination testified that she first noticed the pickup truck when it was right along side her and followed it until it reached the intersection (R. 65). That according to the measurements she actually saw the pickup truck for a distance of approximately 46 feet as it passed her on the left (R. 66). Even though she only saw the pickup for that distance, she still felt she was able to determine the speed of the automobile. The posted speed limit on 21st South going east and west was established in court as 30 m.p.h. (R. 66). Mrs. Monroe further testified that she did not know who the driver was of the car in front of her; that he must have made a right turn proceeding north on 9th East Street (R. 67).

Mr. Douglas Hubbard, witness for the State, testified that on the 9th of March, 1959, he was proceeding north on 9th East Street at approximately 7:45 A.M. on his way to work. That his wife accompanied him in the front seat of their car (R. 68). That he was in the lane of traffic nearest the center line (R. 69). Just before he arrived at the intersection the light turned yellow; he slowed down and came to a stop and waited until the light changed to red, that is, he waited through a yellow light and a red light (R. 69). That after the light turned green, he stated:

“Q. All right, now what happened after the light turned green?

A. After the light turned green — I am in the habit of looking at traffic, I don't trust the light, and as I looked to my right I saw this pickup truck and he seemed to be coming along at a fairly good speed and I didn't think he was going to stop, and I had crossed the lane about 3 feet approximately so I stopped and the truck went in front of me."

That the truck struck the gray Plymouth approximately in the midsection of the Plymouth. He testified that he first saw the truck when it was a few feet beyond the corner of Petty's Ford showroom, that is a little bit to the east of the west corner (R. 70). Mr. Hubbard testified that the truck was traveling close to 25 m.p.h. and as he approached the cross lane he stepped on it, the truck speeded up and at the point of impact was traveling in his opinion approximately 30 m.p.h., that is he had increased his speed 5 m.p.h. That he determined this from the sound of the motor and the actual movement of the vehicle (R. 70-71). That his vehicle was in the intersection no more than 3 feet at the time of the accident. On cross-examination Mr. Hubbard testified that he had used this route on his way to work on prior occasions, and that on prior occasions he had seen other cars run the red light both at 9th East and 7th. At that point the State raised an objection and the court refused to allow the witness to testify with respect to any

further violations of the semaphores (R. 72). Mr. Hubbard testified on cross-examination (R. 73) that it was apparent the pickup truck was going to proceed through the intersection and this was apparent to him when the truck was approximately 6 to 8 feet east of the east crosswalk. Mr. Hubbard also testified with respect to the Weddington car, (R. 73-76) :

“Q. Now, had he come to a complete stop at that intersection before he started (he is referring to the Weddington car).

“A. Yes, I happened to be watching as he came to the intersection, and the light was red for him and he slowed down more or less getting ready to put on his brakes, and he had stopped.

“Q. But you think he did stop.

“A. Oh, yes.

“Q. Do you remember having your deposition taken here several months ago, and didn't you in that deposition state that in your opinion the Weddington car or this gray Plymouth did not come to a complete stop?

“A. I don't remember for sure. That was over a year ago.

“Q. Well, your recollection a year ago would have been better than it is at the present time, wouldn't it, with respect to this accident?

“A. Oh, when I gave my deposition, I was positive of every fact I stated, yes.

"Q. I see. Did you have occasion to observe the driver of this gray Plymouth, particularly whether he looked to the right or the left in starting out into the intersection?

"A. Not to be sure, no.

"Q. Let me call your attention to the 25th day of September, 1959, at three fifty o'clock p.m. You had your deposition taken, did you not, before L. Reid Seely, a notary public, up in the Executive Building? Do you remember that?

"A. In the Insurance Building?

"Q. Well, maybe it was the Insurance Building. I thought it was the Executive Building.

"A. Could be.

"Q. Do you remember having your deposition taken at that time?

A. (Witness nods.)

"Q. Do you remember this question and the answer that you gave to it: Question, Now, where was Mr. Weddington's car when you first observed it?

Answer, 'I glanced at him. I saw him coming toward me slowly, on the other side of the street. He was just crawling. I think he saw the light was going to turn green, probably, and he just crept along to save putting on his brakes. I believe he did put them on before he hit there, but the light turned green before he came anywhere near the crosswalk.'

Question, 'What is your opinion as to

how far north of the north crosswalk Mr. Weddington's car was when the light changed green, facing you?"

Answer, 'Oh, making a rough stab, I'd say about fifteen or twenty feet.'

Question, 'And how fast was Mr. Weddington going at that time, in your opinion?'

Answer, 'In my opinion, he'd be close to a stall. He'd be going about ten to fifteen, ten to twelve miles an hour.' "

* * * *

"Q. Calling your attention to one other matter, Mr. Hubbard, with respect to your deposition taken on the above date, and as purely a matter to refresh your recollection with reference to this question I asked you about observing Mr. Weddington and whether or not he looked to the right or to the left, let me ask you if at that time in your deposition these were the questions and answers that were given at that time: Question, 'Did you observe which way he was looking before the accident happened? Did you observe Mr. Weddington at all in his car?'

Answer, 'Just looking straight ahead. I saw him just looking like that (indicating). He was driving.'

"Do you remember that question and your answer to it?

"A. I don't remember it now, but it must have been correct at that time."

Further, on cross-examination at R. 76 the following question was asked:

“Q. Now, also, Mr. Hubbard, isn’t it a fact that you were particularly cautious of this intersection because other cars prior to this time had been running the red light in front of you at this intersection?

A. No.

“Q. Let me call your attention to one other factor in your deposition and see if this doesn’t refresh your recollection to —

“MR. BLACK: Just a minute. I have already objected once to any evidence of prior incidents of other cars at this intersection. I believe it is immaterial.

“MR. McCULLOUGH: Your Honor, I didn’t bring it out for that purpose, and I made it specifically clear that I didn’t.

“THE COURT: I think you have no right to refresh his recollection unless he testifies now to something contrary to the way he testified before.

“MR. McCULLOUGH: Well, he did. That is what I am trying to bring out, Your Honor. I asked what was the reason for his being particularly cautious of this intersection. He says, ‘Well, just I don’t want somebody to hit me,’ or something of that nature. The thing I want to bring out is something entirely contrary to that.

“THE COURT: May I see what you are about to read to him?

(Judge looks at deposition.)

“THE COURT: The objection is sustained.

“MR. McCULLOUGH: May the record

show we would like to make a proffer of proof on that?"

The proffer of proof made out of the presence of the jury is found at page 80 of the Record, to-wit:

"MR. McCULLOUGH: Comes now the defendant and excepts to the ruling of the court with respect to the exclusion of the testimony solicited of the witness Douglas Hubbard in response to the question as to — what did he say?

"THE COURT: I know what he was going to say. He was going to say people had been running that red light in front of him for a long time, and that's why he was solicitous of his own welfare.

"MR. McCULLOUGH: Well, in response to the question of the counsel for the defendant to the effect that — or as to why he was particularly cautious at this intersection, defendant offers the following proffer of proof, and the witness would have testified as follows: 'I wasn't too much interested in him' — referring to the defendant — 'until the light turned red. Then I wondered who was going to run it this morning. That's the first thing I thought. I thought, 'Who's going to run the red light this morning?'

"And further, 'Well, the light turned green, and I got ready to move. And, of course, as I moved, just as I started, I looked. I thought, 'Well, who's coming?' And I saw this truck coming, and I mentioned to my wife, I said, 'Well, here goes another one. He can have the right-of-way as far as I'm concerned.'

“That’s all.

“THE COURT: That is the proffer that you tender, and do you want to hear it, or do you have objections?”

“MR. BLACK: What is that?”

“THE COURT: I say that is his proffer. Do you want the jury to hear it, or do you have objections to it?”

“MR. BLACK: I object to it for the same reason as stated before, that I think it is immaterial.

“THE COURT: The objection is sustained. And you have a motion you want to make.”

At the close of the State’s case defendant made a motion to dismiss on the grounds that the State failed to prove the commission of a crime and the motion of the defendant was denied. Whereupon, counsel for defendant made his opening statement. At this point the court instructed the reporter not to take down the opening statement made by Mr. McCullough. That opening statement becomes very material at this point because of the effect of the court’s ruling in refusing to allow Mr. James Challis, the City Traffic Engineer, to testify in behalf of the defendant. At pages (R. 81-83) court stated:

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