1961

The State of Utah v. Leo Barrett Stewart, Jr. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Reference in respondent's brief to the record of proceedings of the trial court will be designated by the letter "R" and to appellant's brief by the letter "B."

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Respondent finds itself in substantial agreement with the facts as set forth in the Brief of Appellant, and hence does not submit a separate statement of facts in connection with its brief.

STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN EXCLUDING TESTIMONY RELATING TO PRIOR ACCIDENTS.

POINT II.

EVEN IF THE TRIAL COURT DID ERR IN EXCLUDING TESTIMONY RELATING TO PRIOR ACCIDENTS, SUCH ERROR WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL.

POINT III.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN THE ADMISSION OF EVIDENCE, AND EVEN IF SUCH ERROR WAS COMMITTED, IT WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL.

ARGUMENT

POINT I.

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN EXCLUDING TESTIMONY RELATING TO PRIOR ACCIDENTS.

The general rule of law regarding the admissibility of evidence of prior accidents is correctly set forth by appellant. (B. 32)

“It is recognized in numerous cases that for certain purposes, at least, evidence of other similar accidents or injuries at or near the same place or by use of the same appliance suffered by persons other than the plaintiff and in other and different times, not too remote in point of time from the

particular occurrence, is admissible. Evidence of prior similar accidents, when admissible, is generally admissible for the following purposes only: (1) To show the existence of a defective or dangerous condition or appliance and the dangerous character of the place of injury or of the machine or the appliance, and (2) to show the defendant's notice or knowledge thereof."

20 Am. Jur., Evidence, 304, p. 282.

The rule generally is applicable, however, only in those cases wherein there is substantial similarity between the circumstances surrounding the prior accident and the one before the Court.

"The pertinence of such evidence is, of course, drawn from the facts that the various accidents occurred at the same place and under conditions which were at least substantially similar, and the courts have frequently emphasized the necessity of showing such similarity of conditions as a predicate for the admission of the evidence. However, it has usually been held that only substantial similarity of conditions is required, and there is perhaps evident a trend — probably part of a general trend toward the more liberal admission of evidence — toward treating the question of sufficiency of similarity of conditions as primarily a matter for the trial court's discretion, and to freely admit the evidence of the prior accident together with evidence of variations in conditions, which is treated as going to weight rather than admissibility."

Anno.: 70 ALR 2d 170, 171. (See cases cited therein.) The annotation goes on to say that this type of evidence is sometimes excluded on the grounds that

it is inconvenient for the court to investigate prior accidents to determine their relevancy; and further, that whether this evidence shall be admitted is best determined by the court in its discretion.

“The strongest attack of evidence of the type here considered has been based upon grounds of trial convenience rather than upon its lack of relevance. Especially in the earlier cases, the courts have expressed the fear that if the evidence were received the trial would be disrupted by the necessity of investigating all the circumstances of the various incidents in question, and have concluded that the simplest and most desirable solution was to exclude all such evidence. However, in the more recent decisions in most jurisdictions there is apparent a tendency to treat this question ad hoc, leaving it to the trial judge in each case to determine whether the evidence should be excluded on this ground and, if the evidence is admitted, to determine the extent to which the circumstances of the earlier accident can be investigated.” (p. 172)

Appellant cites several Utah cases wherein the general rule regarding admission of evidence of prior accidents has been substantially adopted. It should be noted that in all of these cases the circumstances involving the prior accidents were substantially similar to the ones before the court. The Bamberger case, *Parker v. Bamberger, et al.*, 100 Utah 361, 116 P. 2d 425, dealt with an allegedly defective wig-wag signal. Evidence that this same signal had failed to function on previous occasions was held to be properly admitted. In the Stocker case, *Stocker v. Ogden City, McFarland v. Ogden City*, 88 Utah 389, 54 P. 2d 849, it was alleged that water from a cer-

tain stream was contaminated. The Court admitted evidence showing that others had drunk from the same stream with no apparent ill effects. The Shugren case, *Shugren v. Salt Lake City*, 48 Utah 320, 159 Pac. 530, was concerned with an allegedly defective sidewalk. Evidence was admitted that others had tripped on that same piece of sidewalk.

In each of these cases the relevancy of the evidence admitted to the question before the court is apparent. In one case the same wig-wag signal is involved; in another the same stream and source of water; and in the third the same defective piece of sidewalk.

But as regards the instant case, this requirement of similarity of conditions is not met. The appellant's proffer of proof (B. 20; R. 91) is to the effect that Mr. Challis, if allowed to testify, " * * * would testify with reference to the number of accidents which occurred at the intersection in the year 1959, the total of 24 in all, to show their relationship to the present or to the case at bar and the similarities that existed between them."

Also, Mr. Challis would have testified that the intersection in question had one of the highest accident ratios in Salt Lake City for the five years preceding 1959; that studies had been made of the dangerous condition of the intersection; and that, among other things, changes in the semaphore system were recommended because of the difficulty in detecting the color of the light when the rays of the sun were directly upon it. (See appellant's proffer of proof.)

Apparently, appellant wanted Mr. Challis to testify concerning the history of accidents at the intersection for a period of at least one year, and possibly as many as five. Appellant testified at the trial that he observed the semaphore some 150 feet from the intersection, and that it was green at the time. (R. 88) He further testified that the rays of the sun were bearing down into the signal as he approached it. (R. 86) Apparently it is appellant's contention that the sun may have been shining upon the signal in such a way as to prevent him from detecting that it had turned red against him. That being so, testimony as regards prior accidents occurring at this intersection involving the affect of the sun upon the semaphore would be admissible under the rules set forth above. But appellant's approach is that of a scattergunner. In his proffer of proof he fails to show how any of the prior accidents were related to the problem of the sun shining into the signal. He urges that testimony based on studies of all accidents over a protracted period of time be admitted.

It is conceivable, but not probable, that all the prior accidents involved this question of the effect of the rays of the sun. Perhaps some of them did. But in absence of a more definite showing to that effect in appellant's proffer of proof, the trial court was justified in assuming that the testimony of Mr. Challis would in the main be irrelevant and it was therefore properly excluded.

“Where excluded evidence is not material unless other proof is made, and no evidence is received

or offered to establish that proof, such exclusion will not justify a reversal.”

5A C.J.S., Appeal and Error, 1080.

The Court’s ruling on the proffer of proof is not a part of the record. However, the Judge’s statement regarding the admissibility of the Challis testimony (R. 81-83) indicate that he was not satisfied that the prior accidents met the test of substantial similarity. He was also concerned about the inconvenience involved in analyzing many prior accidents to determine their relevancy. This latter reason is in accord with the holding of at least some courts, particularly as regards cases dealing with dangerous condition as opposed to notice. These cases are collected in annotation at 70 ALR 2d 170, 192.

That portion of the record dealing with the refusal to admit the Challis testimony is printed below: (*Italics supplied*)

“THE COURT: I’m not sure I am going to let Mr. Challis testify to that effect, Mr. McCullough, because I have ruled heretofore that that is immaterial. Whether a lot of other people have been negligent or whether a lot of other people have run stop signs is no concern of ours. Whether this defendant was negligent is a concern of ours; if he is negligent, whether it is of such a grave nature as to constitute recklessness so as to bring him within this charge; and I don’t believe that this jury or I would be interested in knowing that on other occasions other people have done the same thing. I think I would not take our time on that.

MR. MCCULLOUGH: Well, I think the testimony that he can give with reference to this intersection

and subsequent changes that have taken place are material and go to the very issue that we are trying to decide, this question of recklessness.

THE COURT: Well, I'm not going to let him tell about how many people have violated the law or whether or not they have violated the law. I don't think that helps us a bit. *If there is anything peculiar about this intersection or its timing that would help the jury in determining whether this defendant violated the law, then, of course, it would be material; but just for us to get out and try to determine whether other people were violating the law or not won't help us here.* It seems to me it is something like when a man is charged with negligently shooting a deer hunter, and he could show every year so many deer hunters get shot every year. We are not interested in that case. We are interested in what happened in this case, and I will limit you to this case.

MR. McCULLOUGH: Of course, I don't want to dispute the matter with Your Honor since you have the last word any way.

THE COURT: Well, I do temporarily.

MR. McCULLOUGH: But if you are going to limit it to that extent, the only issue is if the light was red, the light was red when he ran it, then he is guilty period.

“THE COURT: No, that is not quite. My instructions will show that is not true. There has got to be an element of recklessness in here before this defendant is guilty.

MR. McCULLOUGH: Well, we will proceed then, Your Honor. If that is going to be Your Honor's ruling—

THE COURT: Yes.

MR. McCULLOUGH: —of course, we would like—

THE COURT: *I am going to rule that this jury has no interest in whether other people have run lights because if we get that before us, we have got to go into every case to find out whether somebody else was negligent, and that is not — well, it seems to me we would be here a month, and I had better stop it before we get started.*”

POINT II.

EVEN IF THE TRIAL COURT DID ERR IN EXCLUDING TESTIMONY RELATING TO PRIOR ACCIDENTS, SUCH ERROR WAS NOT PREJUDICIAL.

Section 77-42-1, U.C.A. 1953, provides that the commission of error by the trial court will not be presumed to have resulted in prejudice, and that a cause will not be reversed for error unless that error affects the substantial rights of the party. See also *State v. Neal* (1953), 262 P. 2d 756, and *State v. Justesen*, 99 Pac. 456.

The evidence against appellant that was admitted at trial was of such weight that the admission of the testimony of Mr. Challis relating to prior accidents would not have had any appreciable effect on the jury's determination.

“* * * the error is considered as harmless where the evidence, if admitted, could not have affected the result.”

5A C.J.S., Appeal and Error, 1069.

Three persons who were eyewitnesses to the accident involving the appellant were called upon to testify by the prosecution. Earl B. Taylor testified (R. 52-59) that he was traveling south on 9th East. At the intersection of 9th East and 21st South he testified that he stopped for a red light and that his auto was directly behind that of the deceased, Mr. Weddington, who also stopped for the light. He further testified that the light turned green and the Weddington auto proceeded into the intersection, and that it was struck broadside by a pickup truck that was traveling west on 21st South by the appellant. The appellant, according to Mr. Taylor, did not stop before proceeding into the intersection.

Another eyewitness, Mrs. Joanne Monroe, testified (R. 62-68) that she was traveling west on 21st South in the right-hand lane of traffic. She was traveling behind another car. The car ahead of hers stopped at the intersection, and she did likewise. She testified that the light was red, and "I didn't notice that I had any difficulty in seeing the light." She further testified: (R. 63)

"A. I had been stopped, oh, approximately three or four seconds when I noticed — there was one car in the lane next to me, and I noticed another car approaching, but he did not seem to be slowing down to stop for the red light.

Q. Okeh. Now, you say he was in the lane to your left?

A. Yes.

Q. All right, and what happened?

A. Well, my first idea was that he was going to run the red light, and as he continued on into the intersection, I noticed another car approaching from the north, and then I thought there was going to be an accident.

Q. And what — will you tell me, did you see the accident happen?

A. Yes, I did.

Q. And what happened?

A. The car that had passed me on the left hit the car that was going south through the intersection.”

The third eyewitness, Douglas Hubbard (R. 68-78), testified that he was traveling north on 9th East and that he stopped for a red light at the intersection of 21st South. The light turned green in his favor and he proceeded into the intersection but stopped when he saw the approaching truck driven by appellant. (R. 69)

Mr. Hubbard further testified: (R. 61)

“A. After the light turned green — I am in the habit of looking at traffic. I don’t trust the light, and as I looked to my right, I saw this truck, pick-up truck, and he seemed to be coming along at a fairly good speed, and I didn’t think he was going to stop, and I had crossed the lane about three feet approximately, so I stopped, and the truck went in front of me.

Q. And did you see what happened to the truck?

“A. Yes. The truck hit I believe it was a gray Plymouth. It hit it approximately in the center. It took just about the front door and back of the front door, approximately the center of the car.”

“Q. All right. Can you tell me what, if anything, you noticed about the speed of this truck from that point on?

A. I would say he was traveling close to twenty-five miles an hour, and as he approached the cross lane, he stepped on it, and I would say at the point of impact he was traveling about thirty. He had increased his speed I would say about five miles an hour.

Q. Will you tell me what makes you think that he increased his speed?

A. Well, just normal observation, and I could hear the sound. It wasn't too new a truck, and you could hear the roar of it as he stepped on it, and you could see the actual movement that it was moving faster.”

In synthesis, the testimony of these witnesses was that there were, in addition to the Weddington car and the truck of appellant, four other automobiles at or near the scene of the accident. Two of these, the Monroe car and another, were traveling west on 21st South, the same as the appellant. The appellant was traveling in the inside lane, the Monroe car and another in the right-hand lane. Both the Monroe car and the one directly in front of it stopped for the red light. Apparently the drivers of both cars were able to see the red light, and indeed, Mrs. Monroe testified she had no difficulty in seeing it. Yet, even though these cars were stopped in the lane next to the appellant and presumably could be seen by him, he did not stop. The two witnesses who were traveling on 9th East, one going south, the other north, testified that the light was green for traffic proceeding on 9th East

at the time Mr. Weddington proceeded into the intersection. This, together with the testimony of Mrs. Monroe, strongly establishes that the light was red when the appellant proceeded through it. Sufficient evidence was presented that the light was against the appellant, and that others traveling in the same direction saw the red light and were stopped at the intersection at the time appellant proceeded through. Appellant was also observed to have increased his speed as he neared the intersection.

The jury weighed the evidence and determined that appellant "did unlawfully and negligently drive said vehicle with reckless disregard for the safety of others." (R. 8) Had this evidence relative to prior accidents been admitted it would not, in light of the weight of other evidence admitted, operated to have changed the verdict returned by the jury. It is therefore urged that the exclusion of the prior accident evidence, even if error, was not prejudicial.

POINT III.

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